
G.3

1



G.3

2



G.3

3



G.3

4



G.3

5



G.3

6



G.3

7



G.3

8



G.3

9



G.3

10



G.3

11



From: ASCC New Claims
To:
Bcc: Kathryn Irby
Subject: Carl Bryant, Claim No. 251831 - deficient
Date: Friday, June 6, 2025 8:37:00 AM
Attachments: Carl Bryant Claim form and supporting docs - 251831.pdf

Dear Mr. Bryant,
 
The Claims Commission is in receipt of your claim documents. However, you do not state
which state agency or department you believe to be responsible for your damages. If your
claim is against a state agency or department, please write that agency or department name
on line 3 (“State Agency Involved”) of your enclosed claim form and return the completed form
to our office or respond to this email. If your claim is not against a state agency or department,
you will need to file your claim elsewhere.
 
Thank you,
Caitlin
 
 
Caitlin McDaniel
Administrative Specialist II
Arkansas State Claims Commission

101 East Capitol Avenue, Suite 410
Little Rock, Arkansas 72201
(501) 682-1619
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From:
To: ASCC New Claims
Subject: Re: Carl Bryant, Claim No. 251831 - deficient
Date: Friday, June 6, 2025 9:54:52 AM

Arkansas highway department is responsible. How do I put it on the form

On Fri, Jun 6, 2025, 8:37 AM ASCC New Claims <ASCC.New.Claims@arkansas.gov>
wrote:

Dear Mr. Bryant,

 

The Claims Commission is in receipt of your claim documents. However, you do not state which
state agency or department you believe to be responsible for your damages. If your claim is against
a state agency or department, please write that agency or department name on line 3 (“State
Agency Involved”) of your enclosed claim form and return the completed form to our office or
respond to this email. If your claim is not against a state agency or department, you will need to
file your claim elsewhere.

 

Thank you,

Caitlin

 

 

Caitlin McDaniel

Administrative Specialist II

Arkansas State Claims Commission

101 East Capitol Avenue, Suite 410

Little Rock, Arkansas 72201

(501) 682-1619

 

G.3

13



From: ASCC New Claims
To:
Bcc: Kathryn Irby
Subject: RE: Carl Bryant, Claim No. 251831
Date: Monday, June 23, 2025 12:49:00 PM

Dear Mr. Bryant,
 
We have received your response, and have added your response to your claim. Your claim is
currently in review status. Once reviewed, it will be sent to the ArDOT for response.
 
Thank you,
Caitlin
 
 
Caitlin McDaniel
Administrative Specialist II
Arkansas State Claims Commission

101 East Capitol Avenue, Suite 410
Little Rock, Arkansas 72201
(501) 682-1619
 
 
 
 
 
From: Denita Eason < > 
Sent: Friday, June 6, 2025 9:55 AM
To: ASCC New Claims <ASCC.New.Claims@arkansas.gov>
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
on line 3 (“State Agency Involved”) of your enclosed claim form and return the completed
form to our office or respond to this email. If your claim is not against a state agency or
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department, you will need to file your claim elsewhere.
 
Thank you,
Caitlin
 
 
Caitlin McDaniel
Administrative Specialist II
Arkansas State Claims Commission

101 East Capitol Avenue, Suite 410
Little Rock, Arkansas 72201
(501) 682-1619
 

G.3

15



From: ASCC New Claims
To: Davenport, Michelle L.; Blakley, Sharon D.; Walker, LaKeysha N.; Wallace, Courtney E.
Cc: Kathryn Irby
Subject: CLAIM: Carl Bryant v. ArDOT, Claim No. 251831
Date: Thursday, June 26, 2025 11:10:00 AM
Attachments: Carl Bryant v. ArDOT agency ltr .pdf

Carl Bryant Claim File - 251831.pdf

Dear Ms. Davenport,
 
Please confirm receipt of the attached claim file. The agency may file its response to this claim
electronically by sending it to asccpleadings@arkansas.gov, with a copy to the claimant
pursuant to the Arkansas Rules of Civil Procedure.
 
Please contact Kathryn Irby with any questions.
 
Thank you,
Caitlin
 
 
Caitlin McDaniel
Administrative Specialist II
Arkansas State Claims Commission

101 East Capitol Avenue, Suite 410
Little Rock, Arkansas 72201
(501) 682-1619
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June 26, 2025 
 
 
Ms. Michelle Davenport                                                                               (via email)  
Arkansas Department of Transportation 
Post Office Box 2261 
Little Rock, Arkansas 72209 
 
 
RE: Carl Bryant v. Arkansas Department of Transportation 

Claim No.  251831 
__________________________________________________________________________________________  
 
Dear Ms. Davenport, 
 
  Enclosed please find a copy of the above-styled claim filed against the Arkansas 
Department of Transportation. Pursuant to the Arkansas Rules of Civil Procedure, as well as 
Claims Commission Rule 2.2, you have thirty days from the date of service in which to file a 
responsive pleading. 
 
  Your responsive pleading should include your agency number, fund code, appropriation 
code, cost center, and activity/section/unit/element that this claim should be charged against, if 
liability is admitted, or if the Claims Commission approves this claim for payment. This 
information is necessary even if your agency denies liability. 
 
      Sincerely, 
 
      Kathryn Irby 
 
 
ES:  cmcdaniel 
 
cc:  Carl Bryant, Claimant (w/o encl.) (via email) 
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From: ASCC New Claims
To:
Bcc: Kathryn Irby
Subject: Carl Bryant v. ArDOT, Claim No. 251831
Date: Thursday, June 26, 2025 11:10:00 AM
Attachments: Carl Bryant v. ArDOT agency ltr .pdf

Dear Mr. Bryant,
 
Attached please find a copy of the letter sent with your claim to the Arkansas Department of
Transportation.
 
Thank you,
Caitlin
 
Caitlin McDaniel
Administrative Specialist II
Arkansas State Claims Commission

101 East Capitol Avenue, Suite 410
Little Rock, Arkansas 72201
(501) 682-1619
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From: Wallace, Courtney E.
To: ASCC New Claims; Davenport, Michelle L.; Blakley, Sharon D.
Cc: Kathryn Irby
Subject: RE: CLAIM: Carl Bryant v. ArDOT, Claim No. 251831
Date: Thursday, June 26, 2025 1:54:52 PM
Attachments: image001.png

 
 
Received
 
 

Courtney Wallace
Legal Technician

PH: 501-569-2277
Email: Courtney.Wallace@ardot.gov
 
 
 
From: ASCC New Claims <ASCC.New.Claims@arkansas.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, June 26, 2025 11:11 AM
To: Davenport, Michelle L. <Michelle.Davenport@ardot.gov>; Blakley, Sharon D.
<Sharon.Blakley@ardot.gov>; Walker, LaKeysha N. <LaKeysha.Walker@ardot.gov>; Wallace,
Courtney E. <Courtney.Wallace@ardot.gov>
Cc: Kathryn.Irby <Kathryn.Irby@arkansas.gov>
Subject: CLAIM: Carl Bryant v. ArDOT, Claim No. 251831

 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of AʀDOT. Do not click links or open
attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.
 
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
To: ASCC Pleadings
Cc: Martinez, Ivan; Newberry, Helen A.; Blakley, Sharon D.; Eenigenburg, Cody W.
Subject: Bryant v. ARDOT Claim 251831 - ANS-MTD
Date: Tuesday, July 22, 2025 3:17:49 PM
Attachments: image001.png

Bryant.251831.ANS-MTD.2025.07.22.pdf

 
 
Please acknowledge receipt of the attached Answer and Motion to Dismiss for
the referenced claim.
 
 

Courtney Wallace
Legal Technician

PH: 501-569-2277
Email: Courtney.Wallace@ardot.gov
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BEFORE THE STATE CLAIMS COMMISSION 
OF THE STATE OF ARKANSAS 

CARL BRYANT CLAIMANT 

V.      CLAIM NO.  251831 

ARKANSAS DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION RESPONDENT 

ANSWER AND MOTION TO DISMISS 

COMES THE RESPONDENT, Arkansas Department of Transportation, by and through 

its Staff Attorney, Iván Martínez and Helen Newberry, and for its Answer and Motion to Dismiss 

states the following: 

1. The Respondent denies all allegations of the Complaint not admitted herein.

2. The Claimant's damage was not caused by negligence of the Arkansas Department

of Transportation or its employees. 

3. A Claim for Negligence requires duty, breach, damages, and causation.  Chambers

v. Stern, 347 Ark. 395, 406, 64 S.W.3d 737, 744 (2002); Prosser and Keeton on Torts, Ch. 5, §

30. Arkansas is a fact-pleading state, and to determine whether a cause of action has been

sufficiently pled the courts look to the allegations of fact that the plaintiff (here the Claimant) 

contends support that cause of action. Rippee v. Walters, 73 Ark. App. 111, 114, 40 S.W.3d 823, 

826 (2001). A dismissal is proper when the complaint (here, the claim) only states conclusions 

without facts that support that conclusion. Id. Here, Claimant has not stated facts sufficient to 

support a claim for negligence. 

4. The burden of proof is on the Claimant. In order to prevail on a claim of negligence

under Arkansas Law, the party bringing the action must prove that the Respondent owed a duty to 

the Claimant, that the duty was breached, and that the breach was the proximate cause of the 
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Claimant’s injury. Fordyce Bank & Trust Co. v. Bean Timberland, Inc. 369 Ark 90, 94, 251 S.W.3d 

267, 270 (2007). 

5. The State is not a no-fault insurer of the general public.  Without any claim and 

proof of negligence on the part of the Respondent, the State should not be liable for Claimant’s 

damages. 

6. Affirmatively pleading, the Respondent states that it has not breached its duty to 

operate the State Highway System. There are almost 16,000 miles of State Highway in Arkansas, 

it is impossible to predict when and where a pothole will develop. Encountering a pothole is a risk 

assumed by the public in general as a part of travel.  Historically and legally, the Commission will 

not award damages caused by a pothole unless a Claimant can show some negligence on the part 

of the Respondent.  Such proof of negligence must generally include facts to indicate that the 

Respondent had prior knowledge of the pothole, yet the respondent failed to respond within a 

reasonable amount of time to repair the pothole. Claimant has not provided any such evidence, 

therefore the claim should be denied and dismissed because Claimant has failed to meet the 

“breach of duty” element of negligence.  

7. Claimant has failed to state a claim against the Respondent for which relief can be 

granted.  Claimant failed to provide any evidence showing that the Respondent was aware of the 

pothole subject of this claim, and failed to show that the Respondent did not respond within a 

reasonable amount of time of being notified of said pothole. Claimant has failed to meet the 

“damage” and “causation” elements of negligence by showing that any damage was caused by 

the negligence of the Respondent.  This matter should be denied and dismissed pursuant to 

Arkansas Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 12(b)(6). 
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8. Further, Respondent, Arkansas Department of Transportation, keeps and maintains 

records of reported potholes across the State in a system which is created by the public use of 

AskARDOT. Although Respondent does not have to provide records of such a search as it is 

Claimant’s burden to produce plead the facts on which its claim should be granted, such database 

and other records were searched by Respondent. There was a pothole reported by the Arkansas 

State Police on May 7, 2025. An Area Maintenance Crew was dispatched that evening, and the 

pothole was temporarily repaired. On May 8, 2025, another Area Maintenance Crew was 

dispatched to fix the pothole permanently.  

9. However, the mere existence of a pothole that has been repaired is inadmissible to 

show anything other than whether the Respondent had notice of the pothole in question, and when 

it received that notice. Evidence of subsequent remedial measures is not admissible to prove 

negligence or culpable conduct in connection with an event pursuant to Ark. R. Evid. 407. 

10. The Respondent takes these extra steps to expedite claims, determine possible 

negligence, and make the claims process easier for the Commission and the public. The burden is 

on the Claimant to demonstrate causation. Any Claimant who is a citizen of Arkansas can obtain 

the same information via AskARDOT at ardot.gov under The Arkansas Freedom of Information 

Act of 1967, Ark. Code Ann. §25-19-101 et seq. Requests for information from non-Arkansans 

will be fulfilled as a general inquiry. The Respondent objects to any further requirements imposed 

on it to relieve the burden of the Claimant in consideration that the burden of proof is on the 

Claimant. Additional research into every claim received places an undue burden on staff in 

multiple departments and causes the unnecessary expenditure of taxpayer funds. 
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WHEREFORE, the Respondent prays for dismissal of the Complaint and for all other 

proper relief to which it may be entitled, including that the Claimant be held to a strict 

negligence standard 

 

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED,   
ARKANSAS DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION  

 
 
 
 
 
By:__________________________________ 
Iván Martínez Ark. Bar No. 2024003  
Staff Attorney 
Arkansas Department of Transportation  
P.O. Box 2261 
Little Rock, AR  72203-2261 
(501) 569-2158 
ivan.martinez@ardot.gov  
Helen Newberry AR Bar No. 2018101 
Staff Attorney 
Arkansas Department of Transportation 
P. O. Box 2261 
Little Rock, AR  72203-2261 
(501) 569-2003 
helen.newberry@ardot.gov  
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BEFORE THE ARKANSAS STATE CLAIMS COMMISSION 

 

CARL BRYANT CLAIMANT 

 

V. CLAIM NO. 251831 

 

ARKANSAS DEPARTMENT OF 

TRANSPORTATION  RESPONDENT 

 

 

ORDER 

 Now before the Arkansas State Claims Commission (the “Commission”) is the motion filed 

by the Arkansas Department of Transportation (the “Respondent”) to dismiss the claim of Carl 

Bryant (the “Claimant”). Based upon a review of the motion, the claim file, and the law of the 

State of Arkansas, the Commission hereby finds as follows: 

1. Claimant filed the instant claim, alleging that Claimant’s vehicle was damaged by 

a pothole on Interstate 30 on May 7, 2025.  

2. Respondent filed a motion to dismiss pursuant to Ark. R. Civ. Proc. 12(b)(6), 

arguing, inter alia, that Claimant failed to show that Respondent had prior knowledge of a pothole 

yet failed to respond within a reasonable amount of time to repair it. Respondent referenced its 

AskArDOT database1 and previous potholes reported in the area in its motion.  

3. Claimant did not respond to the motion. 

 
1 The Commission notes that the AskArDOT portal was launched by Respondent in October 2023. 

https://ardot.gov/news/23-292/ A citizen may submit a request to Respondent under the Arkansas 
Freedom of Information Act for pothole reports in a particular location for a particular timeframe, and the 
request can be submitted “in person, by telephone, by mail, by facsimile transmission, by electronic mail, 
or by other electronic means provided by the custodian,” which would include Respondent’s AskArDOT 
customer service portal (https://ardot.gov/about-us/). Ark. Code Ann. § 25-19-105(a)(2)(B). 
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4. In order for the Commission to make an award on a pothole claim, the Commission 

has historically held that a claimant must show that Respondent knew or should have known of 

the pothole and that Respondent failed to repair it in a reasonable amount of time. 

5. The Commission will hold the instant motion for thirty days to allow Claimant to 

amend the complaint to include good faith allegations of fact (1) that Respondent knew or should 

have known about the pothole prior to Claimant’s incident and (2) that Respondent failed to repair 

it within a reasonable amount of time. Should Claimant fail to amend the complaint on or before 

December 1, 2025, or should Claimant determine that Claimant cannot, in good faith, make such 

allegations, the Commission will grant Respondent’s motion for failure to state a claim upon which 

relief can be granted. Should Claimant amend the complaint, the Commission will deny the motion 

as moot (Respondent to free to file another motion regarding the amended complaint). 
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IT IS SO ORDERED.   

        
     _______________________________________ 

ARKANSAS STATE CLAIMS COMMISSION 

Dee Holcomb 

       
      _______________________________________ 

      ARKANSAS STATE CLAIMS COMMISSION 

Henry Kinslow 

       
      _______________________________________ 

ARKANSAS STATE CLAIMS COMMISSION 

Paul Morris, chair 

 

      DATE: November 7, 2025 

 

 

  Notices which may apply to this claim 

 

(1) A party has forty (40) days from transmission of this Order to file a Motion for Reconsideration or a Notice of Appeal 

with the Commission. Ark. Code Ann. § 25-44-211(a)(1). If a Motion for Reconsideration is denied, that party then 

has twenty (20) days from the transmission of the denial of the Motion for Reconsideration to file a Notice of Appeal 

with the Commission. Ark. Code Ann. § 25-44-211(a)(1)(B)(ii). A decision of the Commission may only be appealed 

to the General Assembly. Ark. Code Ann. § 25-44-211(a)(3). 

 

(2) If a Claimant is awarded $15,000.00 or less by the Commission at hearing, that award is held forty (40) days from 

the date of disposition before payment will be processed to allow either party to utilize its remedies under Ark. Code 

Ann. § 25-44-211(a). Note: This does not apply to agency admissions of liability and negotiated settlement 

agreements. 

 

(3) Awards or negotiated settlement agreements of more than $15,000.00 are referred to the General Assembly for 

approval and authorization to pay. Ark. Code Ann. § 25-44-215(b). 
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From: Kathryn Irby
To:  "Martinez, Ivan"; "Newberry, Helen A."; "cody.eenigenburg@ardot.gov"
Cc: "Blakley, Sharon"; Wallace, Courtney E.
Bcc: Mika Tucker
Subject: ORDER: Bryant v. ArDOT, 251831
Date: Sunday, November 9, 2025 8:28:00 PM
Attachments: C27--Bryant v. ArDOT, 251831.pdf

Mr. Bryant and ArDOT counsel Martinez, Newberry, and Eenigenburg:
 
Please see attached order entered by the Commission. The claimant may submit any
amendment to asccpleadings@arkansas.gov or via mail to the Commission at the address
below.
 
Kathryn Irby
 
 
Arkansas State Claims Commission
101 East Capitol Avenue, Suite 410
Little Rock, Arkansas 72201
(501) 682-1619
 
 

G.3

32



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

Bryant (the “Claimant”). The Commission previously entered an order on November 7, 2025, 

giving Claimant until December 1, 2025, to amend the claim to include good faith allegations of 

fact (1) that Respondent knew or should have known about the pothole prior to Claimant’s incident 

and (2) that Respondent failed to repair it within a reasonable amount of time. Per the 

Commission’s November 7, 2025, Claimant’s failure to amend the complaint by December 1, 

2025, will result in the dismissal of Claimant’s claim. To date, Claimant has not amended the 

complaint. As such, pursuant to the Commission’s November 7, 2025, order, the Commission 

DISMISSES Claimant’s claim pursuant to Ark. R. Civ. Proc. 12(b)(6) for failure to state facts 

upon which relief can be granted. The Commission further finds that the dismissal is without 

prejudice, such that Claimant may refile as permitted by Arkansas law.  
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

      Henry Kinslow, Chair 

       
      ______________________________________ 

ARKANSAS STATE CLAIMS COMMISSION 

Sylvester Smith 

             

      DATE: December 4, 2025 

 

 

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
Date: Monday, December 15, 2025 1:46:00 PM
Attachments: C45--Bryant v. ArDOT, 251831.pdf

Mr. Bryant and ArDOT counsel:
 
Please see attached order entered by the Commission. To the extent that either party
disagrees with the Commission’s decision, please review Section 1 of the text box at the end
of the order for the options at this point. Please note that any future filings should be
submitted to asccpleadings@arkansas.gov, with a copy to the opposing party.
 
Kathryn Irby
 
 
Arkansas State Claims Commission
101 East Capitol Avenue, Suite 410
Little Rock, Arkansas 72201
(501) 682-1619
 
 

G.3

35



G.3

36




